North Texas Barnhunters

Bylaws

August 2013

Constitution

Article I

Name and Objectives

Section 1. The name of the club shall be North Texas Barnhunters, hereinafter referred to as "the club."

Section 2. The club is a trial-giving, non-profit organization affiliated with Barn Hunt Association LLC. The club is committed to the promotion and development of the sport of Barn Hunt without regard to breed, pedigree, or kennel club registration by:

- 1. Conducting Barn Hunt trials;
- 2. Stressing safety of dogs, rats, and humans, and good sportsmanship;
- 3. Hosting training sessions, seminars, public demonstrations, and other such events to promote the sport.

Section 3. The club shall not be conducted or operated for profit, and no part of any profits, residue from dues or residue from donations to the club shall inure to the benefit of any member or individual.

Bylaws

Article I

Membership

Section 1. Eligibility.

Membership shall be open to any person who subscribes to the objectives of the club. No person will be excluded from membership on the basis of the breed, pedigree, or registration eligibility of any dog they own or handle.

Section 2. Types of Membership.

There shall be four types of membership:

- 1. **Individual.** This membership is for individuals. The member shall be given all rights and privileges as stated in the Bylaws, and shall be entitled to one vote.
- 2. **Family.** This membership is for families. Family members shall be given all rights and privileges as stated in the Bylaws, and shall be entitled to two votes per membership.
- 3. **Corresponding.** This membership is for individuals who wish to be included on mailing lists and in distributions of newsletters, or who simply wish to be affiliated with the club without benefit of rights and privileges as stated in the Bylaws. Corresponding members are not entitled to voting privileges.
- 4. **Honorary.** The Board of Directors may confer honorary memberships upon individuals for extraordinary service to the club or to the sport of Barn Hunt. These are lifetime in term, carry all rights and privileges accorded to individual members, and may only be terminated by resignation or expulsion (section 5.1 and 5.3 of this article). Honorary members pay no dues.

Section 3. Dues.

Dues for each type of membership shall be recommended by the Board of Directors and approved by the membership at any scheduled Membership meeting. Continuing membership dues must be paid in full on or before March 1 of the calendar year. Dues for new members will be prorated for the remainder of the year during which they join.

Section 4. Election to Membership.

Each applicant for individual or family membership shall apply via a form as approved by the Board of Directors, which shall indicate that the applicant agrees to abide by the Bylaws and rules of the club. The general membership shall vote on prospective members at the next scheduled Membership or Board meeting, provided that a complete application including the appropriate sum for dues for the remainder of the calendar year is submitted at least one week prior to that meeting, and a notice including the names of prospective members is sent to the club mailing list at least one week prior to that meeting. To vote on membership, a quorum of members must be present at the meeting. A majority of those present and voting in the affirmative shall constitute the acceptance of the application(s) for membership. Member prospects may attend the meeting, but may not be present during that part of the meeting devoted to discussing and voting on their or any other prospective member's acceptance for membership.

Section 5. Termination of Membership

Memberships may be terminated, with no dues refunded, in the following ways:

- 1. **By Resignation.** Any member in good standing may resign from the club. Any debts owed by the resigning member to the club by must be paid before the resignation will be accepted. Any reimbursements owed by the club to the resigning member by the club will be paid at the Treasurer's earliest opportunity.
- 2. **By Lapsing.** A membership will be considered as lapsed and automatically terminated if a member's dues remain unpaid after March 1 of the calendar year. Members whose memberships have been so terminated must reapply for membership if they wish to rejoin the club.
- 3. **By Expulsion.** A membership may be terminated by expulsion as provided in Article VI of these Bylaws.

Article II

Meetings

Section 1. Membership Meetings.

Meetings of the general membership of the club shall be held periodically as designated by the President. Notice to members of a club meeting may be done by email, by notice in the club newsletter, on the club website, or by any other recognized method that will reach all members. The membership is to be notified of the meeting at least two weeks before the meeting date. Members desiring to place items on the meeting agenda shall submit such items to the President no fewer than seven days prior to the meeting. The quorum for such meetings shall be fifteen percent of the members in good standing, counting individual memberships singly and family memberships doubly.

Section 2. Board Meetings.

Meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held periodically at times and places to be determined by the Board. The quorum for such meetings shall be fifty percent of the Board of Directors. Voting on club business at meetings of the Board of Directors shall be limited to members of the Board; however, any member in good standing may attend and participate in discussions. In extraordinary circumstances, the Board may invoke executive session at either a regularly-scheduled or an ad hoc Board meeting.

Section 3. Annual Meeting.

An Annual Meeting of the club will be held during the third calendar quarter of the year, for the purpose of taking nominations for the Board of Directors, Officers, and Committee Chairs, as well as for any other normal club business.

Article III

Directors, Officers, and Committee Chairs

Section 1. Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors shall be comprised of the following: President, Vice President, Treasurer, Secretary, and two at-large positions, all of whom will serve for a period of one year. The positions of Secretary and Treasurer may be held by the same person. No two members of the same family shall serve simultaneously on the Board of Directors. The immediate past President is entitled to one of the at-large positions; if he or she declines this office or is elected to some other Board position, both of the at-large positions shall be nominated from the club membership. The general management of the club's affairs is entrusted to the Board of Directors.

Section 2. Officers.

The club's Officers shall consist of the President, Vice President, Treasurer, and Secretary. The maximum amount of time a member may hold an office shall be two consecutive terms, except in the case of a Vice President serving as Acting President for the remainder of the term of a resigning President, in which case the maximum time shall be that remainder plus two additional consecutive terms. The descriptions of these positions shall include, but are not necessarily limited to, the following:

- 1. **President.** The President shall preside at all meetings of the club and shall have the duties, responsibilities, and powers normally assigned to the office of President. The President shall have the right to call meetings, appoint special committees, and coordinate officers, committees, and the Board.
- Vice President. The Vice President shall have the duties and exercise the powers of the President in the event of
 the incapacity or resignation of the President. This person shall assist the President in any manner which the
 President deems necessary.
- 3. **Secretary.** The Secretary shall keep a written record of all meetings of the club and handle all correspondence involving the club. The Secretary shall maintain a master file of necessary business and legal forms needed by the club. The Secretary shall also maintain a current master membership roster.
- 4. Treasurer. The Treasurer shall collect and receive all monies due to the club and shall report to the club, at every meeting, the condition of the club's financial status, including a monthly income/expense summary. The Treasurer will monitor expenses and report discrepancies to the Board. The club's financial record shall be open to all members.

Section 3. Committee Chairs.

The Board of Directors may appoint Committee Chairs as appropriate and required. These positions may include, but are not necessarily limited to, the following:

- 1. **Public Relations.** The Public Relations Chair shall be responsible for any print materials required by the club, including (but not limited to) flyers, banners, signs, posters, or advertising material. The Public Relations Chair will also manage an inventory of apparel and other such items for the club, should the Board of Directors choose to offer such for sale to members or as a member benefit. The Public Relations Chair will manage any contact between the club and media or other organizations.
- 2. **Training and Demonstration Chair.** This position will be responsible for scheduling and managing any training offered and demonstrations performed by the club, whether for special-interest groups or the general public.
- 3. **Newsletter Editor.** The Newsletter Editor will periodically publish a club newsletter, should the Board of Directors choose to have one.
- 4. **Equipment Manager.** The Equipment Manager will coordinate the construction or acquisition, as well as the maintenance and storage, of rat tubes, ramps, fencing, straw bales, and any other such materials required by the club.

Committee Chairs will solicit assistance from the membership to serve on these committees as necessary. Committee Chairs may serve on multiple committees, as well as on the Board of Directors. At the annual meeting, nominations for the Chairs of any currently active committees will be taken from the membership, and those nominees will be voted upon in the same manner as those for the Board of Directors.

Section 4. Vacancies.

Any vacancy in the Board of Directors shall be filled by nomination by the membership at a scheduled meeting and election by the general membership via secret ballot. Vacancies of Committee Chairs shall be filled by appointment by the Board of Directors. In any case, a vacancy replacement shall serve only the remainder of the year during which appointed or voted.

Article IV

Club Year, Nominations, and Elections

Section 1. Club Year.

The club's year shall begin on the first day of January and end on the last day of December. The newly-elected Directors, Officers, and Chair shall take office on January 1.

Section 2. Annual Election.

The election of the Board of Directors, Officers, and Committee Chairs shall be conducted by written or electronic ballot in accordance with the provisions of this Article.

Section 3. Voting.

- 1. Voting on club business shall be limited to those members in good standing who are present at meetings, except where written or electronic ballot shall be deemed necessary, such as the election of Board of Directors, Officers, and Committee Chairs and changes and amendments to the Bylaws. Voting by proxy shall not be permitted, except in the case of family memberships; i.e. when only one member of a family membership is present at a meeting; he or she may exercise both of their votes.
- 2. All ballots, whether written or electronic, must identify the positions for which elections are being held, all candidates for each such position and, in the event that a candidate has elected to run for multiple positions, must explain the provisions of these Bylaws regarding multiple positions. No votes for write-in candidates will be tallied. The secretary must receive hand-delivered ballots no later than fourteen days from the date of the original postmark, in the case of mailed ballots. Ballots returned by mail must be postmarked no later than fourteen days from original postmark. In the event that the slate of an election for Board of Directors, Officers, and Committee Chairs is composed entirely of unopposed races, no election need be held. The Board of Directors may decide to submit other specific questions for decision of the members by written or electronic ballot.
- 3. Electronic voting, via email or other internet-based means, may be used for any election or other vote, provided that the method for such is secure as to both the possibility of fraud and the protection of the identities of the voters. The Board of Directors will approve any such methodology, subject to objection from the general membership, said objection to be affirmed by majority vote at a scheduled meeting.

Section 4. Nominations.

- 1. Nominations will be accepted from the general membership of the club at the Annual Meeting. Candidacy is open to all active members in good standing who accept their nominations. No member who has not been so nominated may be a candidate for any office. In the event that a nominee is not present at the Annual Meeting at the time of nomination; their acceptance may be taken by proxy or by telephone or other such communication before the meeting is adjourned. Members may nominate themselves.
- In the event that there are no nominees for any particular position, the Board of Directors shall solicit candidates from the general membership. Such solicitations shall be made before the Annual meeting is adjourned but may, if necessary, continue to be sought after the Annual meeting is adjourned and before ballots are mailed or electronic voting is initiated. If, at the time ballots are mailed or electronic voting is initiated, a particular position remains without a nomination, that position will remain vacant until the next Membership meeting, at which time nominations will once again be solicited. Nominations for open positions will continue to be so solicited at Membership meetings until one or more is made.

Article V

Special Committees and Appointments

Section 1. Special Committees and Appointments.

The Board of Directors and/or President may appoint special committees or positions to advance the work and interests of the club. These special committees may include, but are not necessarily limited to:

- Barn Hunt Representative. The Barn Hunt representative shall establish and maintain communication between the club and Barn Hunt LLC. This position shall keep members informed of all Barn Hunt LLC activities and rule changes.
- 2. Trial Committee. Trial committees are delegated responsibility for the coordination and conducting of individual trials and other such events.
- 3. Volunteer of the Year. This committee will solicit, review, and make recommendations for the Volunteer of the Year award.

ARTICLE VI

Discipline

Section 1. Barn Hunt Suspension.

Any member who is suspended from the privileges of Barn Hunt LLC shall automatically come under review by the Board of Directors for their actions. The Board of Directors shall then decide whether to pursue any further disciplinary action.

Section 2. Charges.

Any member may prefer charges against another member for conduct prejudicial to the best interest of the club or the sport of Barn Hunt. Written charges with specifications must be filed with the Secretary, who shall notify the Board. If the member charged is the Secretary, the charges and specifications may be filed with any other Board member. The Board shall meet and fix a hearing date of not less that three weeks nor more than six weeks thereafter. The Secretary (or, per the above, other Board member) shall promptly send one copy of the charges to the accused member by certified mail, together with the notice of the hearing and an assurance that the defendant may personally appear in his or her defense and bring witnesses or present evidence if so desired.

Section 3. Board Hearing.

- 1. Both sides shall be treated uniformly in Board hearings. If the charges are sustained, after hearing all of the evidence and testimony presented by the complainant and the defendant, the Board may, by a majority vote of those present, suspend the defendant from all privileges of the club for a period of time not to exceed one year, based on the nature of the charge. The Board may also recommend to the Membership other disciplinary action or expulsion. In this case, the defendant has the right to appear before his or her fellow members at the next club meeting which considers the Board's recommendation.
- 2. Immediately after the Board's decision, its finding shall be put in written form and filed with the Secretary (or, per the above, other Board member), who shall, in turn, notify each part of the Board's decision and penalty, if any.

Section 4. Expulsion or Other Non-Suspension Penalty.

Expulsion, or penalty other than suspension not to exceed a year, of a member from the club may only be accomplished at a meeting of a quorum of the membership following a Board hearing and upon the Board's recommendation as provided in Section 3 of this Article. Such proceedings may occur at a regular or special meeting of the club to be held within sixty days but not earlier than thirty days after the Board's recommendation of expulsion or other disciplinary action. The defendant shall have the privilege of appearing on his or her own behalf, though no evidence will be taken at this meeting. The President shall read the charges and the Board's findings and recommendations, and shall invite the defendant, if present, to speak on his or her own behalf if he or she wishes. The Membership shall then vote, by secret written ballot, on the proposed expulsion or other disciplinary action. A quorum vote of those present at the meeting shall be necessary for the action to carry. If the action is not so voted, the Board's suspension shall stand.

ARTICLE VII

Amendments

Section 1. Amendments to the Constitution and Bylaws.

Amendments may be proposed by the Board of Directors or by written petition addressed to the Secretary, signed by a quorum of the Membership in good standing. Amendments proposed by such petition shall be promptly considered by the Board of Directors and must be submitted to the members with the recommendations of the Board by the Secretary for a vote within three months of the date when the petition was received by the secretary.

Section 2. Vote Amending Constitution and / or Bylaws.

Except as provided in Section 3 of this Article, the Constitution and Bylaws may be amended by a two-thirds vote of the members present at any regular or special meeting called for this purpose, provided the proposed amendments have been included in the notice of the meeting and communicated to each member at least two weeks prior to the date of the meeting.

Section 3. Amendments Relating to Kennel Club Registration.

The Constitution or Bylaws shall not be amended to restrict membership in the club to persons owning or handling dogs registered with any breed registry or kennel club except by a ninety-nine hundredths vote of the members present and voting at any regular or special meeting called for such purpose, provided that any such proposed amendments have been included in the notice of the meeting and communicated to each member at least two weeks prior to the date of the meeting.

ARTICLE VIII

Dissolution

Section 1. Dissolution.

The club may be dissolved at any time by the written consent of not less than a fifty percent vote of the entirety of the general membership. In the event of the dissolution of the club, whether voluntary or involuntary or by law, none of the property of the club nor any proceeds thereof nor any assets of the club shall be distributed to any members of the club, but after payment of all debts of the club, its property shall be sold to the highest bidder and assets shall be given to a charitable organization designated by the Board of Directors.

AMMENDMENTS

Article I, Section 4 was amended on January 17, 2019. The original text of this section was as follows:

Each applicant for individual or family membership shall apply via a form as approved by the Board of Directors, which shall indicate that the applicant agrees to abide by the Bylaws and rules of the club. The general membership shall vote on prospective members at the next scheduled Membership meeting, provided that a complete application including the appropriate sum for dues for the remainder of the calendar year is submitted. To vote on membership, a quorum of members must be present at the meeting. A majority of those present and voting in the affirmative shall constitute the acceptance of the application(s) for membership. Member prospects may attend the meeting, but may not be present during that part of the meeting devoted to discussing and voting on their or any other prospective member's acceptance for membership.